# COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

# Tamworth School Board and the Tamworth Education Support Personnel Association

Effective July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2009

# TESPA AGREEMENT

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	ARTICLE I: RECOGNITION	1
	ARTICLE II: RIGHTS & PRIVILEGES	1
	ARTICLE III: NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE	1
	ARTICLE IV: NON-DISCRIMINATION	3
	ARTICLE V: DEFINITION:	3
	ARTICLEVI: RECORDS:	4
	ARTICLE VII: PAY DEDUCTIONS	4
	ARTICLE VIII: HEALTH BENEFITS	5
	ARTICLE IX: EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION	6
	ARTICLE X: TIME REQUIREMENTS	8
	ARTICLE XI: RESIGNATION.:	8
	ARTICLE XII: TRAVEL EXPENSES	8
	ARTICLE XIII: PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT LEAVE	8
	ARTICLE XIV: PERSONAL LEAVES AND ABSENCES	8
	ARTICLE XV: EVALUATIONS	11
	ARTICLE XVI: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	12
	ARTICLE XVII: VACANCIES	14
	ARTICLE XVIII: REDUCTION IN FORCE	14
	ARTICLEXIX: LONG TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE	15
	ARTICLE XX: RETIREMENT	15
	ARTICLE XXI: MISCELLANEOUS	15
	ARTICLE XXII: DURATION OF AGREEMENT	16
Ap	pendix 1	17
	pendix 2pendix 3	
1		

## **ARTICLE I: RECOGNITION**

The Tamworth School Board recognizes the Tamworth Educational Support Personnel Association for the purposes of collective bargaining as the exclusive representative of a unit consisting, of all. full-time

and part-time employees, secretary, custodial, food services, paraprofessionals, bus monitor, and technology service technician personnel, with respect to terms and conditions of employment as defined by NH RSA 273-A.

### **ARTICLE II: RIGHTS & PRIVILEGES**

- (A) The Board reserves to itself sole jurisdiction and authority over matters of policy and retains the right, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations (1) to direct employees of the School District, (2) to hire, promote, demote, assign, and retain employees in positions with the School District, and (3) to suspend, discharge, or take other disciplinary action against employees in accordance with this Agreement.
- (B) The Board agrees that it will not interfere with the right of the employee to become a member of the Association or to exercise their right to bargain collectively through the Association in accordance with provisions of NH RSA 273-A.
- (C) Provided there is no interference with any previously scheduled school activities, the Association may use school facilities and equipment. The Association shall arrange such use with the Principal.
- (D) The Association and its representatives shall have the right to post notices of activities and matters of Association concern in the staff room.
- (E) The Board shall endeavor to place and matter(s) brought before it for its consideration by the Association, under appropriate heading on the agenda. Written notification of said matter(s) shall be received by the Board at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting.
- (F) No employee shall be disciplined except for just cause.

### ARTICLE III: NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE

The Association and the Board agree to enter into collective negotiations in accordance with New Hampshire RSA 273-A.

The parties shall meet at reasonable times and places to negotiate in a good-faith effort to reach agreement on matters, raised by either party, which are negotiable under RSA 273- A.

Each party agrees to make a good-faith effort to provide such non-confidential information, in its possession as is reasonably requested and necessary for the intelligent development of proposals. The Board is required to release to the general public only such information as is required by law, and only in a form that is convenient for the Board.

Any agreement reached shall be reduced to writing and be signed by the Board and the Association.

If agreement is not reached, either party may call for impasse resolution, utilizing the procedure set forth hereunder.

- (A) If an impasse is declared, a mediator, mutually agreeable to both parties, may be selected from a list provided by the Public Employee Labor Relations Board (P. E.L.R.B.) or provided by each party. If after ten (10) days from the receipt of the list the parties have been unable to reach agreement on the selection of a mediator, a mediator shall be appointed by P.E.L.R.B. If agreeable to both parties, this step may be bypassed.
- (B) If either party so chooses, or if mediation does not result in agreement, a neutral party chosen by both parties may be selected from a list provided by P.E.L.R.B. for the purpose of fact- finding; and if, after ten (10) days from the receipt of this list, the parties have been unable to reach agreement on the selection, a neutral party shall be appointed by the P.E.L.R.B.
- (C) The neutral party shall divide the issues into cost and non-cost items. On non-cost items, the neutral party shall make no findings. On cost items, the neutral party shall be limited to the issues still in dispute. When more than one cost item is submitted, the neutral party shall compute the total cost of each party's last offer, and then provide the recommendations best supported by comparability, equity, cost of living, the community's ability to pay, and such other meaningful criteria. All findings of fact and recommendations may be made public ten (10) days after receipt by each party. The parties shall meet within this time period to discuss the neutral party's recommendations and facts.
- (D) If either negotiating team rejects the neutral party's recommendations on cost items, those recommendations shall be submitted to the full membership of the employees' organization and to the

Board of the public employer, which shall vote to accept or reject so much of the recommendations as otherwise permitted by law.

- (E) If either the full membership of the employee organization or the Board of the public employer rejects the neutral party's recommendations, those findings and recommendations shall be submitted to the legislative body of the School District, which shall vote to accept or reject so much of the recommendations as otherwise permitted by law.
- (F) The costs for the services of the mediator and/or neutral party, including per diem expenses, if any, and actual and necessary expenses, shall be shared equally by both parties.
- (G) Either party may, if it so desires, utilize the services of outside consultants and may call upon professional representatives to assist it in negotiations.
- (H) Time extensions for any of the procedures for impasse resolution can occur with mutual agreement by both parties.

#### ARTICLE IV: NON-DISCRIMINATION

This Agreement shall be applied to all employees without discrimination on account of race, color, religion, sex, age, marital status, national origin, or physical disabilities. This, Article IV, is not grievable.

#### ARTICLE V: DEFINITION

- (A) The term "direct economic benefits" shall mean benefits provided the employee such as group health insurance, authorized leaves of absence, and the number of working days provided in a contract.
- (B) Unless otherwise indicated, the term "employee," when used in this agreement, shall mean any member of the bargaining unit who holds a full or part-time position:

30 hours or more --full-time

Under 30 hours -part-time

- (C) Probationary Employee -Newly hired personnel shall be probationary for the first sixty (60) workdays.
- (D) Substitute-any person temporarily filling in for an employee
- (E) Paraprofessional is to mean aides and/or tutors and specialist assistants
- (F) Seniority length of service within the job classification, based on the first day of work for the District. Should more than one employee have the same starting date, the date on the employee's first signed "intent to employ" form will determine the Anniversary Date within the job classification. Part-time service will be pro-rated.
- (G) Anniversary Date -to be based upon the employee's date of hire
- (H) Life Partner -A person who cohabitates with another for a minimum of three (3) years, but whose relationship does not meet the "common law" definition.

### **ARTICLE VI: RECORDS**

- (A) Such records as the Board deems necessary for the proper administration of the school system shall be kept on each employee.
- (B) All records shall be kept in one file at the School Administrative Unit No.13 office, with the exception of duplicate copies of employee's evaluation kept in the Principal's office.
- (C) Upon written request, each employee shall have the right to review, at a time mutually convenient, the contents of his/her file in the School Administrative Unit No. 13 central office; except any confidential letters of reference. There shall be no additional files or records kept about employees performance except that the Principal may keep a log of conversations with the employee relative to the employee's performance. At the employee's request, a witness of his/her choice may accompany the employee in such review. The review shall be made in the presence of the administrator responsible for the safekeeping of such files. The employee may make reasonable use of the copy machine in the business office for such contents and records as concerns his/her work or himself/herself.
- (D) An employee shall have the right to respond in writing within seven (7) working days after notification of any complaints filed in his/her personnel file, and the answers shall be attached to the complaint and reviewed by the Superintendent of Schools or his/her designated representative.
- (E) Examination of an employee's file shall be limited to persons authorized by the employee and superintendent.

(F) All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the employee.

#### ARTICLE VII: PAY DEDUCTIONS

Payroll deductions, in addition to those required by law, are possible under the following conditions:

- (A) Under proper written authorization from the employee, the District agrees to deduct from the wages of the employee a sum certified as Association dues, which is to be deducted in equal amounts over the employee's contracted year, beginning with the first pay period in the Fiscal Year. Association dues shall be paid to the Treasurer of the Association on the same day that paychecks are issued, and from which the dues are deducted.
- (B) Upon proper written authorization from the employee, the purchase of tax-sheltered annuities is possible for all full-time and part-time employees. Each participant authorizes the School District to withhold and transmit monthly the premiums for the annuity from his/her salary. The number of annuities shall be limited to one that the majority of participants agree upon. Current annuities shall remain in force until such time as the employee requests to change the fund sponsor.
- (C) Upon proper written authorization from the employees electing payroll deductions for a School Board approved credit union shall notify the business office on the form provided for the necessary payroll authorization. The business office shall transmit credit union deductions monthly to the authorized credit union
- (D) It is recognized that the negotiations for the administration of the Agreement entail expenses that appropriately should be shared by all employees who are beneficiaries of the AGREEMENT. Each Bargaining Unit Member, as a condition of his/her employment, shall join the Association or pay a fair share fee to the Association equivalent to the amount of dues and assessments required to be paid by members of the Association.

#### ARTICLE VIII: HEALTH BENEFITS

#### (A) Health Insurance:

The Tamworth School Board agrees to pay ninety seven percent (97%) of the price of a single, two-person, or family membership with the New Hampshire School Health Care Coalition or equivalent, subject to approval by both parties, Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) Plan for each full-time employee, however no employee shall be required to contribute more than 4% of her/his wages toward medical insurance coverage. Any employee who selects the Point of Service (POS) Plan will pay the difference in cost between the Point of Service (POS) Plan and the HMO plan. Any employee electing to take no insurance will receive \$1,500.00.

- 1. Any cash payment will be payable in December. Employees working during the school year shall receive a pro-rated amount equivalent to their pro-rated employment in their last paycheck.
- 2. Enrollment in the plan is available on the plan's anniversary date, 1 July each year or within 30 days of an employee's change of status.
- (B) Dental Insurance: The Tamworth School Board shall provide single membership in a dental program for each full-time employee. Additional coverage of two-person or family membership may be purchased by the employee. The coverage will be Delta Dental, or equivalent, subject to approval of both parties.
- (C) Insurance Pool: A reimbursement pool shall be established for each employee and their family to reimburse the following expenses:
  - 1. Medical deductibles
  - 2. Dental deductibles
  - 3. Prescriptions
  - 4. Vision care costs such as eye exams or eyeglasses to include contact lenses
  - 5. Audio testing and Hearing Aids

Effective July 1 2006 the amount will be \$650.00 per year.

The reimbursable bill must be submitted to the SAU No. 13 office with the required form within 30 days of receiving the explanation of paid-benefits from the insurance carrier.

#### ARTICLE IX: EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

(A) The basic salaries of employees are covered in this agreement and are set forth in Appendices 1,2, and 3.

- (B) Once employees are on schedule, they shall proceed annually to the next step in the assigned salary schedule until reaching the top step. Any recommendation to hold an employee on step or to advance an employee more than one step shall be in writing from the Superintendent of Schools to that employee, and to the President of the Association stating the reason(s) for that action.
- (C) Employees shall receive credit for educational experience. All salaries listed are based on a high school diploma. Credit shall be given provided that it relates to the job assignment.

Technical School Certificate: add 1 step 1-2 years of college: add 2 steps

3-4 years of college: add 3 steps

- (D) An experienced employee entering the Tamworth School District shall receive the equivalent salary of a like-experienced employee in the Tamworth School District, up to mid-way of the wage schedule.
- (E) Employees shall be paid bi-weekly and may choose to be paid in 22 or 26 payments. Employees choosing to be paid in 22 or 26 payment shall receive any remaining balance in their last paycheck for that year.
- (F) During the school year scheduled hours shall not be modified or reduced as a means to avoid payment of overtime or to reduce benefits.
- (G) Employees shall be paid for a full day when the school day opening is delayed or the school day dismissal is early.
- (H) All employees shall submit a time sheet to the Principal or designee for pay.
- (I) The Principal or supervisor has the right to request an employee to work additional hours on an "as needed" basis for the operation of the system. Employees requested to work additional hours shall be compensated at their regular hourly rate or overtime rate of one and one half (1-1/2) time the regular hourly rate after 40 hours a week or on a holiday.
- (J) The employee has the right to refuse such additional hours without interfering with his/her job security.
- (K) Except in the case of an emergency, an employee may not replace a teacher as the person charged with the responsibility for a classroom of students. In case of emergency, the employee shall be paid the highest substitute rate of pay or his or her own rate, whichever is more.
- (L) Whenever an employee is called in for an emergency situation, he/she shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours. The principal shall make the final determination for emergency situation.
- (M) Each employee shall work according to the individual job description.
- (N) Certified employees will receive additional compensation if the certification is related to the employee's position. The compensation shall be paid in December. Employees working during the school year shall receive a pro-rated amount equivalent to their pro-rated employment in their last paycheck. The stipend will be \$650.00
- (O) The District will pay fingerprinting fees that are required for employment.

## ARTICLE X: TIME REQUIREMENTS

Employees' starting and ending times are set up as deemed necessary by the building principal or supervisor according to the individual school and program.

# ARTICLE XI: RESIGNATION

Any employee wishing to resign shall give 30 calendar days written notice, whenever possible, to the Chairperson of the School Board.

### ARTICLE XII: TRAVEL EXPENSES

The Board agrees to pay expenses incurred for educational conferences or trips involving school business.

Mileage reimbursement shall be made at the Internal Revenue Services rate per mile. Such travel must be approved by the principal or his/her authorized representative.

#### ARTICLE XIII: PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT LEAVE

- (A) Employees shall be granted paid days to attend workshops pertaining to their job. The workshops must be approved by the Principal. The Principal will notify the employee of approval within 7 days of receipt. If the employee does not receive notification within the prescribed time the workshop will automatically be considered approved.
  - Employees shall be granted a workshop allowance of \$225, and three paid days to attend workshops each year.
- (B) If an employee is required to attend a workshop or school-scheduled workshop day, he/she shall be paid for the day.

### ARTICLE XIV: PERSONAL LEAVES AND ABSENCES

(A) Full-time employees begin the school year with a credit of ten (10) days sick leave, The Board agrees to permit the accumulation of sick leave up to a maximum of one hundred (100) working days, which includes the allowable sick leave for the current year.

In the case of a work related injury the board will agree to allow and employee to use a proportion of accumulated sick days to make up the difference between the salary and benefits received under Workers' Compensation and the employee's full wage.

All employees hired after July shall have their sick leave pro-rated.

Sick leave will be prorated for employees working part time

- (B) The Board shall grant, to full time employees, up to three (3) personal leave days in any one year.
- (C) In the event of a death of a spouse, common-law spouse, life-partner, or child, an employee shall be granted a leave of absence of five (5) school days. In the event of a death of a father, mother, brother, sister, grandparent, mother- or father-in-law, sister- or brother-in-law, and employee shall be granted a maximum of four (4) school days. In the event of a serious illness of an immediate family member listed above, an employee may be granted a leave of absence to a maximum of four (4) days if, in the opinion of the Supervising Principal, such a relationship exists. The days of absence will be with pay, but not accumulative.
- (D) Twelve-month employees shall receive vacation leave on their anniversary date as follows:

1 through 4 years-10 days 5 through 9 years-15 days After 10 years-20 days

(E) Paid Holidays: Full-time employees shall be paid for the following holidays

Labor Day Christmas Day
Columbus Day New Year's Day
Veterans Day Civil Rights Day
Thanksgiving day President's Day
Day after Thanksgiving Memorial Day

Twelve-month employees shall also be paid for the Fourth of July.

(F) Child care leave up to one (I) school year shall be granted by the Board if requested by the employee. Such leave may be terminated by the Board prior to its expiration upon written request of the employee, and in the event of maternity, written approval of the physician. At expiration of the leave granted by the Board, the employee must return to duty or lose all right, title ad interest in and to the position. In the absence of return or resignation, the employee shall be terminated. Upon returning to service, the, employee

shall be assigned to the same or similar position as previously held. Upon return from leave, placement on the salary schedule shall be the same as when the employee took leave. Any contribution toward health and/or dental insurance which the District pays, would be continued during the leave of absence.

- (G) The Board agrees to establish an Illness Leave Bank to cover employees only in the event of a long-term illness. The Illness Leave Bank shall be administered by a committee composed of three (3) members of the Association appointed by the President of the Association. This committee shall hereinafter be called the Illness Leave Bank Administrative Committee.
  - (1) Each employee wishing to be covered by the Illness Leave Bank shall agree to donate one (1) day of the ten (10) sick days that he/she is allowed to accrue in a one- year period. Membership in the Illness leave Bank is gained by the donation of this day. This day shall be deposited in the Illness Leave Bank on the first contracted workday. The donated day shall be deducted from the employee's personal accrued illness leave.
  - (2) Membership in the Illness Leave bank plan may begin as soon as an employee has sick leave days to contribute. Each succeeding school year shall be a new enrollment period. The Illness Leave Bank shall accrue days from year to year, to a maximum of 105 days.
  - (3) A member in the Illness Leave Bank plan shall be eligible to request a short-term or extended benefits from the Illness Leave bank after an incapacitating illness or disability, provided he/she has exhausted all of his/her accrued personal illness leave.
  - (4) Requests for Illness Leave bank benefits must be made in writing to the Administrative Committee. Such requests shall be considered on a first come, first serve basis. Approval of any and all requests are restricted to no more than the total number of days accrued by member donations to the Illness Leave Bank.
  - (5) In the event that the Illness leave bank is dissolved at any time the accumulated days will be distributed to the current depositors in a manner to be decided by the Administrative Committee.
- (H) If it is necessary for an employee of the School District to serve as juror, the employee shall be reimbursed the difference between his/her regular pay and jury pay. If the employee must appear as a witness in a court of law, the employee may be awarded time off at the sole discretion of the Superintendent.
- (I) Leave of absence without pay, for a period of up to one (1) year, shall be granted at the discretion of the Board to employees who have been employed by the District for three (3) years or more.
- (J) On return from leave of absence, an employee shall be assigned to the same or similar position as previously held. Upon returning from leave, placement on the salary schedule shall be at least the same as when the employee took leave.

#### ARTICLE XV: EVALUATIONS

- (A) All observations and evaluations shall be made by the Principal or the employee's supervisor and shall be conducted openly with the full knowledge of the employee. The employee shall be given a copy of any evaluation report and shall have the right to discuss such reports with the Principal and to append any remarks to the report. All such remarks shall be included with the report when placed in the employee's file.
- (B) Material derogatory to an employee's conduct, service, character, or personality shall not be placed in the employee's file until a copy of the material has been presented to the employee in the presence of his/her Supervisor and one other, either Assistant Principal, Principal, or Superintendent. The employee shall have the right to submit a written answer to the Superintendent who will review and attach the same to the file copy.
- (C) The Head Custodian and the Head Cook may be requested to submit draft information for evaluation purposes of the Custodian and Cook respectively. Said information shall be in regard to work performance

only and shall be forwarded to the Principal who shall review; amend if necessary and sign and be solely responsible for the contents of the employees' evaluations. The Board agrees not to call either the Head Custodian and/or Head Cook to testify in any proceeding concerning the information given to the Principal and used for evaluations. The Principal shall meet with the individual employee for the purpose of reviewing individual employee evaluations. Employees who submit draft information for evaluation by the Principal shall not be considered supervisors or administrators and shall remain members of the bargaining unit.

(D) An employee's signature acknowledging receipt of any material shall in no way be construed to constitute agreement with such material.

### ARTICLE XVI: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- (A) Definition -A grievance means an alleged violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of any provision of this Agreement.
- (B) A grievance to be considered under this procedure must be initiated in writing by the employee or the Association within ten (10) working days of its known occurrence. The following matters are excluded from the grievance procedure:
  - 1. A complaint of a probationary employee which is caused by his/her not being employed.
  - 2. Any matter for which a specific method of review is prescribed by law, or by any rule or regulation of the State Board of Education.
  - 3. Any matter which, according to law, is beyond the scope of the Board's authority or limited to the unilateral action by the Board alone.

Failure to communicate the decision on grievance within the specified time limits shall permit the grievant to proceed to the next step. Failure in any step of this procedure to appeal a grievance to the next step within the specified time limits shall be deemed a waiver of future appeal of the decision, and shall be considered acceptance of the decision rendered.

No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the Board or employees against any party in interest or other participant in the grievance procedure. Any party in interest may be represented by counselor by a representative selected by the Association.

#### Procedure

Step 1 -Any employee covered by this Agreement who has a grievance shall first discuss it with his/her immediate supervisor in an attempt to resolve the matter mutually at that level. A decision shall be rendered within five (5) school days. An individual employee may present an oral grievance to his/her employer without the intervention of the exclusive representative. Until the grievance is reduced to writing, the exclusive representative shall be excluded from the hearing if the employee so requests, but any resolution of the grievance shall not be inconsistent with the terms of an existing agreement between the parties.

Step 2 -If the employee is not satisfied with the decision, he/she may appeal the decision to the Principal within five (5) school days after the receipt of the decision of the immediate supervisor. The appeal shall be in writing and must specify:

- a. The nature of the grievance; i.e., the specific provisions of the contract which have been violated or misinterpreted or misapplied.
- b. The injury and loss which is claimed; i.e., the specific loss to the employee in pay or professional integrity.
- c. The remedies sought

The Principal shall investigate the matter, and communicate the decision *in* writing to the grievant within five (5) school days from receipt of the written grievance.

Step 3- If the employee is not satisfied with the decision, he/she may appeal his/her grievance to the superintendent in writing within five (5) school days after the receipt of the Principal's decision. The superintendent shall meet with the employee and shall investigate the grievance and render his/her decision in writing within ten (10) school days after the receipt of the appeal to

his/her level.

Step 4- If the decision of the superintendent does not resolve the grievance and if the employee decides to appeal that decision, the matter shall be submitted to the School Board within five (5) school days after notification of the superintendent's decision. The School Board shall have thirty(30) calendar days to resolve the issue.

Step 5- If the decision of the Board does not resolve the grievance to the satisfaction of the employee, and he/she wishes review by a third party, he/she shall notify the Association within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of the Board's decision. If the Association so chooses, it shall then initiate an unfair labor practice charge with the New Hampshire Public Employee Labor Relations Board pursuant to RSA 273-A:5.

#### ARTICLE XVII: VACANCIES

- (A) The superintendent shall determine when a vacancy exists, and notice of such vacancies shall be posted in a reasonable and timely manner, If such vacancy occurs within the normal school year, notice of the vacancy shall be posted where it shall be available to the employees. For Food Service Worker employees, this shall be in the kitchen area; for secretarial, custodial, paraprofessional, and School/Community Technical Coordinator, the place of notice shall be in the staff room.
- (B) All unit vacancies, promotions and new jobs must be posted for five (5) working days in the school, so that all employees shall have an opportunity to apply for these jobs.
- (C) Job posting shall include job specification, range of pay, hours required, job location, and if the position is permanent or temporary.
- (D) Employees desiring to be considered for the vacant position shall make application on the prescribed form for such position within five (5) days of the posting of the vacancy.
- (E) During the summer months when schools are not in session, the unit vacancies shall be posted on the bulletin boards at the main office, and copies shall be sent to the President of the Tamworth Educational Support Personnel Association. The unit shall provide the summer address of the President.
- (F) Currently employed persons shall have preference in filling vacancies if they are qualified to fill such a vacancy The position shall be filled by the most qualified person

## ARTICLE XVIII: REDUCTION IN FORCE

- (A) Notification of intended layoff shall be given as far in advance as possible.
- (B) A member shall have the right to an explanation for the reasons of the lay off by the Superintendent or his designee. The personnel file of the employee laid off for economic reasons (including decrease in enrollment) shall indicate that such was the reason for the layoff.
- (C) Seniority shall be used as the determining factor in layoff/recall.
- (D) Recall rights are extended to past employees for a one (1) year period from the date of the layoff.

## ARTICLE XIX: LONG TERM DISABILITY INSURANCE

The School Board will provide Long Term Disability Insurance for each full-time employee. This coverage will commence on the ninety-first (91) day of the disability and continue until the employee returns to work or reaches the age of sixty-five (65). Payments will equal two-thirds (2/3) of the salary of the employee at the date of the disabling event.

## ARTICLE XX: RETIREMENT

- (A) All employees meeting the eligibility requirements of NH RSA 100-A shall be covered under the New Hampshire Retirement System.
- (B) Employees who are not participating in the New Hampshire State Retirement System shall receive a retirement stipend equal to four percent (4%) of the current year's salary. The stipend shall be deposited into the current available annuity fund at the end of the school year.
- (C) Employees will be allowed to buy health insurance at the group rate available to other school employees.

## ARTICLE XXI: MISCELLANEOUS

- (A) If any provision of this Agreement is, or shall be at any time, contrary to law, then such provision shall not be applicable or performed or enforced, except to the extent permitted by law.
- (B) In the event that any provision of this Agreement is, or shall be at any time, contrary to law, all other provision of this Agreement shall continue in effect.

# ARTICLE XXII: DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement with all Appendices is in effect from July 1, 2006 until 30 June 2009. Tamworth Educational Support Personnel Association

By/s/s	
President, TESPA	Date
amworth School Board	
By/s/s_	
President, Tamworth School Board	Date

## Appendix 1

Wage Schedules Effective 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007

	Parapro- fessional	Secretary	Head Custodian	Assistant Custodian	Technology Service Tech	Head Cook	Assistant Cook	
1	\$ 9.90	\$ 9.30	\$ 12.10	\$ 10.60	\$ 11.35	\$ 11.30	\$ 9.80	
2	\$ 10.20	\$ 9.60	\$ 12.40	\$ 10.90	\$ 11.65	\$ 11.60	\$ 10.10	
3	\$ 10.50	\$ 9.90	\$ 12.70	\$ 11.20	\$ 11.95	\$ 11.90	\$ 10.40	
4	\$ 10.80	\$ 10.20	\$ 13.00	\$ 11.50	\$ 12.25	\$ 12.20	\$ 10.70	
5	\$ 11.10	\$ 10.50	\$ 13.30	\$ 11.80	\$ 12.55	\$ 12.50	\$ 11.00	
6	\$ 11.40	\$ 10.80	\$ 13.60	\$ 12.10	\$ 12.85	\$ 12.80	·	
7	\$ 11.70	\$ 11.10	\$ 13.90	\$ 12.40	\$ 13.15	\$ 13.10		
8	\$ 12.00	\$ 11.40	\$ 14.20	\$ 12.70	\$ 13.45	\$ 13.40		
9	\$ 12.30	\$ 11.70	\$ 14.50	\$ 13.00	\$ 13.75		-	
10	\$ 12.60	\$ 12.00	\$ 14.80	\$ 13.30	\$ 14.05			

Individuals working beyond the top step will receive the top step base plus a \$650 payment which shall be paid in December.

# Appendix 2

Wage Schedules Effective 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008

	Parapro- fessional	Secretary	Head Custodian	Assistant Custodian	Technology Service Tech	Head Cook	Assistant Cook	
1	\$ 10.40	\$ 9.80	\$ 12.60	\$ 11.10	\$ 11.85	\$ 11.80	\$ 10.30	
2	\$ 10.70	\$ 10.10	\$ 12.90	\$ 11.40	\$ 12.15	\$ 12.10	\$ 10.60	
3	\$ 11.00	\$ 10.40	\$ 13.20	\$ 11.70	\$ 12.45	\$ 12.40	\$ 10.90	
4	\$ 11.30	\$ 10.70	\$ 13.50	\$ 12.00	\$ .12.75	\$ 12.70	\$ 11.20	
5	\$ 11.60	\$ 11.00	\$ 13.80	\$ 12.30	\$ 13.05	\$ 13.00	\$ 11.50	
6	\$ 11.90	\$ 11.30	\$ 14.10	\$ 12.60	\$ 13.35	\$ 13.30		
7	\$ 12.20	\$ 11.60	\$ 14.40	\$ 12.90	\$ 13.65	\$ 13.60		
8	\$ 12.50	\$ 11.90	\$ 14.70	\$ 13.20	\$ 13.95	\$ 13.90		

9	\$ 12.80	\$ 12.20	\$ 15.00	\$ 13.50	\$ 14.25	·	
10	\$ 13.10	\$ 12.50	\$ 15.30	\$ 13.80	\$ 14.55	•	

Individuals working beyond the top step will receive the top step base plus a \$650 payment which shall be paid in December.

Appendix 3

Wage Schedules Effective 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009

	Parapro- fessional	Secretary	Head Custodian	Assistant Custodian	Technology Service Tech	Head Cook	Assistant Cook	
1	\$ 10.90	\$ 10.30	\$ 13.10	\$ 11.60	\$ 12.35	\$ 12.30	\$ 10.80	
2	\$ 11.20	\$ 10.60	\$ 13.40	\$ 11.90	\$ 12.65	\$ 12.60	\$ 11.10	
3	\$ 11.50	\$ 10.90	\$ 13.70	\$ 12.20	\$ 12.95	\$ 12.90	\$ 11.40	
4	\$ 11.80	\$ 11.20	\$ 14.00	\$ 12.50	\$ 13.25	\$ 13.20	\$ 11.70	
5	\$ 12.10	\$ 11.50	\$ 14.30	\$ 12.80	\$ 13.55	\$ 13.50	\$ 12.00	
6	\$ 12.40	\$ 11.80	\$ 14.60	\$ 13.10	\$ 13.85	\$ 13.80		
7	\$ 12.70	\$ 12.10	\$ 14.90	\$ 13.40	\$ 14.15	\$ 14.10		
8	\$ 13.00	\$ 12.40	\$ 15.20	\$ 13.70	\$ 14.45	\$ 14.40		
9	\$ 13.30	\$ 12.70	\$ 15.50	\$ 14.00	\$ 14.75	•		
10	\$ 13.60	\$ 13.00	\$ 15.80	\$ 14.30	\$ 15.05			

Individuals working beyond the top step will receive the top step base plus a \$650 payment which shall be paid in December.